RECEIVED

Sep 02 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2024-000753

Case No.: 2019-CP-10-01108

Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Library Associates, LLC; and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, a New York Corporation, Defendants,

And

Library Associates, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF STRONG TOWER ON ITS BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST BALFOUR WHEN THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF STRONG TOWER'S CLAIMED DAMAGES WAS IN DISPUTE AND STRONG TOWER FAILED TO INTRODUCE COMPETENT, ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHING ITS DAMAGES.**
- II. **WHETHER THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN GRANTING PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON STRONG TOWER'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST BALFOUR BECAUSE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON LESS THAN THE ENTIRE BREACH OF CONTRACT CAUSE OF ACTION IS NOT AUTHORIZED BY RULE 56, SCRPC.**
- III. **WHETHER THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN GRANTING PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON WATSON ELECTRICAL'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST BALFOUR BECAUSE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON LESS THAN THE ENTIRE BREACH OF CONTRACT CAUSE OF ACTION IS NOT AUTHORIZED BY RULE 56, SCRPC.**
- IV. **WHETHER THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEYS' FEES TO STRONG TOWER AND WATSON ELECTRICAL AS A PART OF THE SUMMARY JUDGMENTS IN EACH OF THEIR FAVOR BECAUSE THERE WAS NO APPLICABLE STATUTE OR CONTRACT PROVISION AUTHORIZING SUCH ATTORNEYS' FEE AWARDS IN THIS CASE.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of the construction of the Hotel Bennet (the "Hotel" or "Project"), a luxury hotel in Charleston, South Carolina owned by Library Associates, LLC ("Library") and the ensuing litigation arising out of that construction Project.

Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC ("Balfour") served as the Construction Manager for construction of the Hotel pursuant to a contract with Library. Balfour executed a subcontract with Strong Tower Construction, LLC d/b/a Koch Corporation ("Strong Tower") for installation of the ground level storefront bronze windows and doors. (R. 927-961). Balfour executed a subcontract with Watson Electrical Construction Co., LLC ("Watson") by which Watson became responsible

for the supply and construction of the electrical system in the Hotel and the Hotel's parking garage. (R. 333-374).

During the construction of the Hotel, Library stopped making payments to Balfour for the work, eventually leading to Balfour recording a mechanic's lien against the Hotel property on January 25, 2019, in the amount of \$8,408,658.54. (R. 892).

On March 5, 2019, Strong Tower recorded a mechanic's lien against the Hotel property with the Charleston County Register of Deeds in the amount of \$124,080.21, related to the labor and materials it supplied in the performance of its subcontract for the Project. (R. 898). On March 7, 2019, Watson recorded its mechanic's lien against the Hotel property in the amount of \$1,859,359.00. (R. 903).

On March 5, 2019, Balfour commenced the action, C.A. No. 2019-CP-10-01108, against Library asserting causes of action for (1) foreclosure of mechanic's lien; (2) breach of contract; (3) quantum meruit / quasi-contract; (4) failure to make a reasonable investigation of a claim pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-1-15; and (5) indemnity, among others. (R. 104).

In response to Balfour's Complaint, Library filed an Answer and alleged counterclaims against Balfour for (1) breach of contract; and (2) indemnity. (R. 130). On May 15, 2019, Library filed an Amended Complaint and Third-Party Complaint asserting counterclaims against Balfour for (1) breach of contract; (2) indemnity; and (3) declaratory judgment. Library's Third-Party Complaint alleged claims against certain subcontractors, including Strong Tower and Watson, for declaratory judgment. (R. 147-170).

On May 30, 2019, Strong Tower commenced a separate action against Library, and Library's construction lender (Metropolitan Life Insurance Company), C.A. No. 2019-CP-10-02868. In that action, Strong Tower asserted causes of action against Library for (1) mechanic's

lien foreclosure, and (2) quantum meruit / quasi-contract. Strong Tower also asserted causes of action against Balfour for (1) quantum meruit / quasi-contract; and (2) breach of contract. (R. 308-312).

On June 27, 2019, Watson filed an Answer to Library's Third-Party Complaint, and also asserted two cross-claims against Balfour, for (1) breach of contract and (2) quantum meruit and unjust enrichment. Watson also asserted counterclaims against Library for (1) quantum meruit and unjust enrichment; (2) mechanic's lien foreclosure; and (3) negligence. (R. 319-331).

On July 23, 2019, Balfour amended its statement of mechanic's lien and increased the amount of the lien to \$12,066,147.09, at least in part based upon the mechanic's liens filed with regard to the Project by Strong Tower and Watson. (R. 909). Specifically, Balfour's amended mechanic's lien included a total amount of \$104,859.21, associated with work performed in relation to Strong Tower's Subcontract.

After a motion, and by court order, Balfour amended its Complaint on October 3, 2019, to include foreclosure of its amended mechanic's lien along with its other causes of action. (R. 411-424). In response, Library filed an Answer alleging counterclaims against Balfour for: (1) breach of contract; (2) breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act; (3) indemnity; and (4) declaratory judgment. (R. 432-456). Library also asserted third-party claims against Watson and Strong Tower, among others, for declaratory judgment. (R. 451-453).

On November 18, 2019, the circuit court entered an order consolidating Strong Tower's mechanic's lien action with Balfour's suit against Library and referring the case to the Charleston County Master-In-Equity, the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough (the "Master"). (R. 1, 5).

A. Strong Tower Summary Judgment

On October 19, 2020, Strong Tower moved for summary judgment, "or partial summary judgment," on its breach of contract claim against Balfour. (R. 919). In the Motion, Strong Tower

acknowledged that a dispute existed as to at least a \$22,000 back charge assessed against it by Balfour based on assertions by Library that there were leaks occurring at the exterior doors at the Project installed by Strong Tower, as well as other delays. (R. 923). Nonetheless, Strong Tower argued that it was entitled to partial summary judgment “as to at least \$82,859.21 owed by [Balfour] to [Strong Tower] under the parties’ contract.” (R. 924). The Master issued an order denying Strong Tower’s Motion for Summary Judgment on January 8, 2021. (R. 9).

On May 6, 2021, Strong Tower moved again for summary judgment, “or partial summary judgment.” (R. 1062). In its renewed Motion for Summary Judgment, Strong Tower acknowledged again that it was seeking “at least \$82,859.21” for work performed pursuant to the Subcontract which it sought to characterize as the “uncontested” portion of its breach of contract claim against Balfour. (R. 1066). Strong Tower also acknowledged implicitly, if not explicitly, that a dispute existed as to at least the \$22,000 back charge. (R. 1063-1064).

The Master held a hearing on Strong Tower’s Motion for Summary Judgment on August 16, 2021. (R. 573). During the hearing, Strong Tower argued that it disputed the \$22,000 back charge by Balfour and stated, “but I’m going to give them credit for it for the purposes of the summary judgment motion.” (R. 673; 101:20–24). During the hearing, the Master announced his intention to grant summary judgment in favor of Strong Tower on its breach of contract claim against Balfour in the amount of \$82,859.21. (R. 682, 110:7–8). After the Master announced his intention to grant Strong Tower’s motion, counsel for Strong Tower acknowledged that the Master’s granting of its Motion for Summary Judgment did not fully resolve its breach of contract claim. (R. 683, 111:24–112:1).

On September 9, 2021, the Master entered an order partially granting Strong Tower’s Motion for Summary Judgment. The Master awarded Strong Tower: (1) \$82,859.21 on its claim

for breach of contract; (2) \$16,367.53 in prejudgment interest; (3) \$64,927.50 in post-judgment interest and attorneys' fees; and (4) \$404.88 in costs. (R. 25). In the Order, the Master stated that no genuine issue of material fact exists "as to a partial summary judgment award of \$82,859.21, and [Strong Tower] is entitled to judgment as a matter of law against [Balfour] in the amount of \$82,859.21 on its breach of contract claim." (R. 19). The Order further stated that "[b]ased on the absence of genuine issues of material fact with respect to *at least* \$82,859.21, [Strong Tower] is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on that amount against [Balfour] on [Strong Tower's] breach of contract claim." (R. 25) (emphasis added).

On September 20, 2021, Balfour filed a motion for reconsideration of the order granting Strong Tower's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, which the Master denied on April 4, 2024. (R. 1232; 96).

B. Watson Summary Judgment

On August 20, 2021, Watson moved for summary judgment or, in the alternative "partial summary judgment," on its breach of contract claim against Balfour. (R. 1137). Watson's breach of contract claim against Balfour sought \$1,859,359, plus interest, costs, and attorneys' fees. (R. 1138-1139).

Watson alleged this amount was comprised of:

1. \$597,546.28 for retainage under its Subcontract;
2. \$62,091.71 for additional work performed pursuant to Change Orders 33 through 40;
3. \$262,033.40 for work performed pursuant to changes and construction change directives Watson alleges Balfour ordered it to perform; and
4. \$937,687.61 for "additional labor and services Watson provided" due to delays and inefficiencies caused by others.

(R. 1138-1139).

On August 31, 2021, during the hearing on Watson’s Motion for Summary Judgment on its breach of contract claim against Balfour, Watson asserted that the \$937,687.61 for “additional labor and services Watson provided” included:

1. \$90,487.29 based on Watson’s inability to prefabricate its work based on changes to the rooms;
2. \$69,232.52 for material price escalation;
3. \$78,211.78 for labor premium;
4. \$45,906.07 for overtime;
5. \$8,087.17 for temporary labor overtime;
6. \$272,266.51 for extended job cost overhead; and
7. \$373,497.28 for “cumulative impact.”

(R.721-722, 34:16 - 35:10). Watson further clarified that the \$373,497.28 for “cumulative impact” is “a calculation of the cost of labor that Watson expended on this project that was additional labor caused by mismanagement of th[e] project.” (R. 728, 41:14 - 42:7).

During the August 31, 2021, summary judgment hearing, in response to Watson’s claim and allegations, Balfour asserted expressly that a question of fact exists as to the \$937,000 claimed by Watson because there was nothing in the record before the Master as to who was responsible for the claimed delays or how any of the claimed delays resulted in Watson having to perform additional work or incur additional costs. (R. 731, 44:9-21).

After Watson and Balfour concluded their arguments, the Master stated:

So my ruling here is going to be a partial summary judgment . . . I tallied up the first, second, and third numbers, and I come to \$921,671.39 as being owed by Balfour Beatty to Watson Electrical. **I do think it’s a question of fact.** Maybe an additional question. But the additional claim of 937, so it’s less than 50 cents on the dollar that you are asking for. But I’m going to grant partial summary judgment to the tune of \$921,671.39. **You are going to**

need to be able to satisfy the Court as to the basis for the 937 figure.

(R. 733-734, 46:23 - 47:10) (emphasis added).

On September 13, 2021, the Master entered an order granting Watson “partial” summary judgment and awarding Watson \$921,671.39 on its breach of contract claim. (R. 39-40). The Order expressly acknowledged that, “as a matter of law, Watson must provide additional evidence in support of the amount of damages it seeks from [Balfour] above the \$921,671.39 granted herein.” (R. 36). In addition, the Master awarded Watson attorneys’ fees and costs in the amount of \$253,189.30; pre-judgment interest in the amount of \$185,375.89; and post-judgment interest on the \$921,671.39 at a rate of 7.25% compounded annually. (R. 39-40).

On September 23, 2021, Balfour filed a motion for reconsideration of the order granting partial summary judgment in favor of Watson. (R. 1238). The Master entered an order denying Balfour’s Motion to Reconsider on April 12, 2024. (R. 101).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the Court of Appeals applies the same standard of review as was applicable to the master under Rule 56, SCRPC. *Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard*, 400 S.C. 246, 250, 734 S.E.2d 161, 163 (2012); *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008). Thus, in an appeal of an order granting summary judgment, the Court must decide whether the party moving for summary judgment established through competent, admissible evidence that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and whether the undisputed, material facts entitle the moving party to judgment as a matter of law. *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 459, 892 S.E.2d 297, 299 (2023); *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 64, 580 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2003). When determining whether any genuine issues of material fact exist, the Court must view all evidence and all reasonable inferences

in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Callawassie Island Member Club, Inc. v. Martin*, 437 S.C. 148, 157, 877 S.E.2d 341, 345 (2022).

When a master grants summary judgment on a question of law, the Court of Appeals reviews the ruling *de novo*. *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource-Se. Grp.*, 413 S.C. 630, 634–35, 776 S.E.2d 434, 437 (Ct. App. 2015). In a breach of contract case, the construction of an unambiguous contract is a question of law. *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enterprises of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 655, 667 S.E.2d 7, 13 (Ct. App. 2008).

In this appeal, the Court must decide whether Strong Tower and Watson established, through competent and admissible evidence, that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact such that each subcontractor is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on its claim for breach of contract against Balfour. In doing so, the Court must view all of the evidence submitted to the Master, and all reasonable inferences therefrom, in the light most favorable to Balfour. If the Court finds that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to any element of each subcontractor's claim for breach of contract, then it must reverse the Master.

In reviewing the Master's Order and entry of judgment on each motion for summary judgment, the Court must determine whether the judgment completely resolves the breach of contract cause of action at issue because an order that does not resolve all issues in the claim, and end the case, is improper. *See* Rule 56(d), SCRPC; *Chambers v. Pingree*, 334 S.C. 349, 356, 513 S.E.2d 369, 373 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also* *Evergreen Int'l, S.A. v. Marinax Const. Co.*, 477 F.Supp. 2d 697, 699 (D.S.C 2007); *Patrick Schaumburg Automobiles, Inc. v. Hanover Ins. Co.*, 452 F. Supp. 2d 857, 866 (N.D. Ill. 2006) (“Summary judgment may not be entered ‘for a portion of a single claim in suit.’”); *Commonwealth Ins. Co. v. O. Henry Tent & Awning Co.*, 266 F.2d 200,

201 (7th Cir.1959); *Capitol Records, Inc. v. Progress Record Distrib., Inc.*, 106 F.R.D. 25, 28–29 (N.D. Ill. 1985).

ARGUMENT

I. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF STRONG TOWER ON ITS BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST BALFOUR WHEN THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF STRONG TOWER’S CLAIMED DAMAGES WAS DISPUTED AND STRONG TOWER FAILED TO INTRODUCE COMPETENT, ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE OF ITS DAMAGES.

The Order granting summary judgment to Strong Tower, and the judgment entered thereupon, reflect error which must be reversed. The error arises because Strong Tower failed to introduce competent and admissible evidence to establish its claimed damages under the breach of contract, which is an essential element of its cause of action.

“Damages are an essential element to a breach of contract action that must be pled and proven by the plaintiff.” *Cap. Corp. of Am., Inc. v. Teays River Invs., LLC*, No. CV 6:11-2796-HMH, 2012 WL 13006190, at *4 (D.S.C. Feb. 1, 2012) (citing *Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins*, 386 S.C. 43, 48, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (Ct. App. 2009). To recover damages pursuant to a breach of contract claim, the evidence submitted by the moving party “should be such as to enable the court . . . to determine the amount of damages with reasonable certainty or accuracy.” *Monster Daddy, LLC v. Monster Cable Prod., Inc.*, No. CIV.A. 6:10-1170-MGL, 2013 WL 3337828, at *4 (D.S.C. July 2, 2013) (citing *Collins Entertainment, Inc. v. White*, 363 S.C. 546, 611 S.E.2d 262, 269 (Ct. App. 2005)).

While Strong Tower moved for summary judgment on its breach of contract cause of action against Balfour, it never actually submitted evidence of the amount unpaid under the Subcontract or the amount it was entitled to be paid. Strong Tower never submitted invoices, affidavits or verified statements of account in support of its motion to establish the amount owed to it or its

damages resulting from the alleged breach. Strong Tower alleged that the breach was a failure by Balfour to pay amounts due under its Subcontract; however, Strong Tower never presented competent evidence of the actual amount due from Balfour.

Strong Tower sought to support its motion for summary judgment with interrogatories and Balfour's responses. The specific interrogatories relied upon were:

- **INTERROGATORY NO. 1:** Set forth whether Balfour has included in, or claimed as part of, its \$12,066,147.09 amended mechanic's lien the entirety of the value of the [Strong Tower's] \$124,080.21 mechanic's lien.
- **INTERROGATORY NO. 2:** If the response to Interrogatories 1 is "no," or any variation, set forth what, if any, level of the Plaintiff's \$124,080.21 mechanic's lien is included in, or claimed as part of, Balfour's \$12,066,147.09 amended mechanic's lien.
- **INTERROGATORY NO. 3:** If Balfour has included in its mechanic's lien the entirety, or any portion, of the value of the [Strong Tower's] mechanic's lien, set forth the reasons why Balfour has not paid the [Strong Tower] that uncontested portion of [Strong Tower's] claim.

(R. 963-965).

However, Balfour's responses to those interrogatories established only that its Amended Mechanic's Lien included \$87,264.56 for amounts included in Strong Tower's Subcontract, including retainage, and \$17,594.65 for amounts that Strong Tower had requested in change orders (which Balfour had, in turn, submitted to Library in requested change orders) but which had never been approved for payment. (Thus, Balfour's Amended Mechanic's Lien included a total of \$104,859.21 associated with Strong Tower's Subcontract). Moreover, Balfour's responses, introduced by Strong Tower, expressly stated that "[t]he Owner of the Project has not paid Balfour in full for the value of the prime contract, as amended" and "the Owner of the Project claims it is owed damages for delays and/or defects in the construction and delivery of the Project," with "[o]ne of the defects identified [by the Owner] being leaks relating to the exterior doors installed

by Strong Tower.” (R. 963-965). Balfour also responded specifically that “the Owner sent notice of these defects to Strong Tower on October 24, 2019.” (R. 965). Finally, Balfour responded that “there is currently a \$22,000 pending back charge that would reduce the contractual amount owed to Strong Tower.” (R. 965).

In short, the interrogatories and responses offered by Strong Tower in support of its summary judgment motion did not constitute competent, admissible evidence establishing the actual amount owed or constituting Strong Tower’s recoverable damages for the alleged breach of contract. They certainly do not negate the existence of genuine issues of material fact on the issue of damages or the amount owed.

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