**RECEIVED**

**Aug 29 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000753

Case No.: 2019-CP-10-01108

---

Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC,  
Appellant,

v.

Library Associates, LLC; and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, a New York Corporation,  
Defendants,

And

Library Associates, LLC  
Third-Party, Plaintiff

v.

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE MASTER PROPERLY GRANTED PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON WATSON ELECTRICAL’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST BALFOUR BECAUSE PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS AUTHORIZED BY RULE 56, SCRPC.**

The Master properly granted partial summary judgment to Watson. Balfour argues that because the Master’s Order did not completely resolve Watson’s breach of contract cause of action, entry of partial summary judgment was improper. Balfour’s argument fails for multiple reasons. First, Balfour failed to preserve this argument for appeal by raising it at the trial court level. As a result of Balfour’s failure to present this argument to the trial court, the Court of Appeals cannot consider this argument now for the first time on appeal. Second, and contrary to Balfour’s argument, South Carolina law permits partial summary judgment as to a portion of a claim. Finally, after the trial court’s ruling, Watson dismissed the remaining portion of its breach of contract claim against Balfour, so nothing remains to be decided, and Balfour’s argument is therefore not only legally wrong, but moot.

#### **A. Balfour Failed to Preserve This Argument for Appeal.**

In Balfour’s August 27, 2021 Memorandum in Opposition to Watson’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and at the hearing on the Motion, Balfour never raised the issue it is now raising for the first time on appeal: that summary judgment as to a portion of a claim is improper as a matter of law. This is the case even though Balfour expressly recognized during the summary judgment proceedings that Watson was seeking summary judgment as to part of its breach of

contract claim. (R. p. 1164) (“Additionally, Watson is not entitled to partial summary judgment as to any portion of its claimed damages.”)

Balfour’s failure to raise this argument at the trial court precludes consideration of the issue on appeal. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”) citing *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep’t*, 328 S.C. 24, 33-34, 491 S.E.2d 571, 575-576 (1997)). (See also *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Master’s Order granting partial summary judgment to Watson.

**B. South Carolina Law Allows for Partial Summary Judgment as to Part of a Claim.**

Even if the Court were to consider Balfour’s argument for the first time on appeal, Balfour’s argument that Rule 56, SCRCF, does not authorize judgment on a portion of a claim ignores the plain language of Rule 56, ignores South Carolina case law expressly permitting summary judgment as to a portion of a claim, and fails to acknowledge that there is a split of federal authority on this issue.

Balfour’s argument conveniently ignores the plain language of Rule 56(a), which provides that:

**A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 30 days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor upon all or any part thereof.** See SCRCF, Rule 56(a) (emphasis added).

The plain language of Rule 56(a) expressly permits a party to seek summary judgment on all or any part of a claim.

Furthermore, nothing in Rule 56(d), which is heavily cited by Balfour, precludes that which is expressly permitted by Rule 56(a). Part (d) simply provides that if a trial is necessary on any

issues, the court may, if practicable, make an order specifying the facts that appear without controversy and direct further proceedings that are just. The language of Rule 56(d), which by its express terms is merely an option for the trial court to consider, does not modify or control the express language of part (a) permitting summary judgment on any part of a claim.

Further to this point, parts (a) and (d) can and should be read in harmony with each other, giving effect to every word of each provision. Balfour's argument, however, would render part (a)'s "or any part thereof" language meaningless. See *Florence County Democratic Party v. Florence County Republican Party*, 398 S.C. 124, 128, 727 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2012) (the court should seek a construction that gives effect to every word of a statute rather than adopting an interpretation that renders a portion meaningless).

Balfour relies on *Chambers v. Pingree*, 334 S.C. 349, 356, 513 S.E.2d 369, 373 (Ct. App. 1999) to support its position, but Balfour's reliance on *Chambers* is misplaced. In *Chambers*, the Court of Appeals determined that summary judgment on a promissory note was improper because there was a genuine issue of material fact concerning whether any monies were owed. *Id.* at 354-55, 513 S.E.2d at 373. The ruling was predicated on the fact that a promissory note is a promise to pay a *sum certain* in money. "By definition then, a party cannot establish a right to recover on a promissory note yet need a damages hearing to ascertain if any amount is due unless the maker acknowledges that some amount is due." *Id.* This Court then limited its holding in *Chambers* by stating, "[i]n these circumstances, partial summary judgment is simply illogical." *Id.*

In *Chambers*, this Court also criticized the trial court's failure to determine whether a genuine issue of fact existed and failure to make any findings of fact, which failures required the underlying facts to be re-litigated at a subsequent trial – a practice that would be antithetic to summary judgment. *Id.* at 356, 513 S.E.2d at 373.

Balfour's selective quotes from *Chambers* are inapplicable to the present case. This case does not involve a promissory note, and the Master's order does not require the parties to re-litigate any facts at trial. Instead, in this case, the only question left for determination after partial summary judgment was, is Watson entitled to more money. More broadly, *Chambers* does not even address the general propriety of granting partial summary judgment as to a portion of a claim. Other South Carolina cases, however, expressly permit partial summary judgment as to a portion of a claim.

For example, in *Bank of America v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 746 S.E.2d 478 (Ct. App. 2013), this Court affirmed summary judgment as to only a portion of the bank's claim for damages in a foreclosure action. The appellants argued that the Master erred in granting the bank's motion for summary judgment because there were competing affidavits on damages that created a question of fact. This Court agreed as to part of the claimed damages, but affirmed summary judgment as to the remaining portion of the bank's damages, stating:

There is a material question of fact but only in regards to the charges in the affidavit that occurred after September 9, 2011, for inspections and lawn cutting. Those charges totaled \$375 for lawn cutting and \$170 for inspections, amounting to \$545. Henrikson lived in the house at the time of the charges and his affidavit indicating those inspections and lawn cutting did not occur raised an issue of material fact. However, because Appellants have not provided any evidence to dispute the other charges, this does not raise an issue of credibility to the entire amount of charges. Accordingly, the master's grant of summary judgment as to only this part is reversed and remanded for a decision on the charges for grass cutting and inspections after September 9, 2011. *Id.* at 224-25, 746 S.E.2d. at 483.

In other words, summary judgment was appropriate as to only a portion of the bank's claimed damages, and the remaining portion of damages (those occurring after September 9, 2011), would be determined at a subsequent trial.

Here, as in *Draper*, the Master granted summary judgment as to a portion of Watson's claimed contract damages, but determined that a trial would be necessary as to the remaining portion of Watson's damages. The Master's ruling on Watson's contract damages in this case is

substantially similar to the *Draper* case, which expressly authorized summary judgment as to only a portion of the bank's claimed damages. Accordingly, the Master's decision is not, as Balfour contends, legally improper and it should be affirmed. See also *Thornton v. South Carolina Elec. & Gas Corp.*, 391 S.C. 297, 705 S.E.2d 475 (2011) (An order granting partial summary judgment involves the merits of a case for purposes of interlocutory appeal when it finally determines a substantial matter forming the whole or a part of some cause of action or defense).

While Respondent is not aware of any decisions of the Supreme Court of South Carolina addressing this issue under modern Rule 56, the Supreme Court expressly permitted summary judgment as to a portion of a claim under former Rule 44 of the Circuit Court Rules, which is substantially the same as Rule 56, except for Rule 56's addition of part (d). See Editor's and Revisor's Notes for SCRCR, Rule 56; *Hossenlopp v. Cannon*, 285 S.C. 367, 441, 329 S.E.2d 438 (1985) (superseded by statute on unrelated issue); *Nauful v. Milligan*, 258 S.C. 139, 143, 187 S.E.2d 511, 512-13 (1972) (a party may move for summary judgment in his favor upon all or any part of a claim, counterclaim or cross claim).

Finally, because South Carolina law expressly permits partial summary judgment as to all or part of any claim, this Court need not consider federal decisions as persuasive authority. Even if the Court considers federal decisions, however, there is a split of authority on this issue among federal courts, and some federal courts, including the Fourth Circuit, permit partial summary judgment as to a portion of a claim. See, e.g., *Capps v. Long*, No. 20-6789, 2021 WL 4843568, \*1 - \*2 (4th Circuit, October 18, 2021) (summary judgment proper as to portion of a Fourth Amendment claim challenging the decision to initiate an investigatory stop); *Gasden v. Fripp*, 330 F.2d 545, 547 (4th Cir. 1964) ("If it appears on the motion for summary judgment that there is no triable issue with respect to a portion of the claim while there are triable issues with respect to the

remainder, the Court, in its discretion, may enter a partial summary judgment, but is not authorized to foreclose a trial of the remaining triable issues.”). See also *DeJesus v. Malloy*, 531 F. Supp. 3d 650, 660 (W.D. N.Y. 2021) (it bears noting that ‘[s]ummary judgment is not an all-or nothing proposition.’ A party may move pursuant to Rule 56(a) for summary judgment as to an entire claim or defense, as well as ‘part of a claim or defense.’); *Rotorex Co., Inc. v. Kingsbury Corp.*, 42 F. Supp. 2d 563, 570 (D. Md. 1999) (and cases cited); *In re Cardizem CD Antitrust Litigation*, 105 F. Supp. 2d 682, 691-92 (E.D. Mich. 2000) (partial summary judgment appropriate where, as here, resolution of the issue would narrow the scope of discovery, streamline issues to be tried and serve the interests of judicial economy). Accordingly, even if this Court considers federal decisions, federal decisions, including Fourth Circuit decisions, do not support Balfour’s argument, and Watson’s partial summary judgment should be affirmed.

**C. Watson Dismissed Its Remaining Claims Against Balfour, Making Balfour’s Argument Moot**

During trial, and before Watson presented any evidence at trial, Watson voluntarily dismissed its remaining claims against Balfour. As a result of the dismissal, all of the issues raised in Watson’s breach of contract claim have been resolved and nothing remains to be decided. The summary judgment entered by the Master is therefore no longer partial summary judgment, but is completely dispositive of Watson’s breach of contract claim against Balfour. Accordingly, Balfour’s argument that partial summary judgment was improper has been rendered moot by the subsequent dismissal of the remaining portions of Watson’s claim.

**II. THE MASTER PROPERLY AWARDED ATTORNEYS’ FEES TO WATSON BECAUSE A CONTRACT PROVISION AUTHORIZED AWARDED ATTORNEYS’ FEES.**

The Master properly awarded attorneys’ fees and costs to Watson because Article 10.D of the Subcontract authorized the Master to award attorneys’ fees to Watson for disputes between

Watson and Balfour. Balfour's argument that the Master erred by determining that the Subcontract entitles Watson to attorneys' fees and costs ignores that there is no genuine issue of material facts exists about whether Watson's claim involved the conduct of the Owner or the Contract Documents.

At the trial level, Balfour's argument against Watson's Motion was that Balfour should have the right to withhold payment to Watson because the trial court might conclude that Balfour is liable to the Owner, and accordingly Watson might be liable to Balfour. In other words, Balfour's argument in defense to Watson's motion for summary judgment is that Balfour might have a right of set off against Watson. Balfour's argument about what might happen did not establish an issue of material fact, because the issue raised by Balfour was not genuine.

Also at the trial level, Balfour, for the first time in its Motion for Reconsideration, argued that Watson's claim involved the conduct of the Owner of the Contract Documents. Even assuming that this Court considers Balfour's new arguments, the Master's order granting attorneys' fees and costs to Watson should be affirmed because Watson's breach of contract claim against Balfour did not involve the conduct of the Owner or the Contract Documents.

**A. The Subcontract Provisions Regarding Attorneys' Fees and Costs**

Balfour's incorrectly argues that the attorneys' fee provision in the Subcontract does not authorize the award of attorneys' fees to Watson. The Subcontract includes four Articles that are relevant to the issue of attorneys' fees. Article 10.A states in part,

Any dispute between Subcontractor and Contractor not involving the conduct of the Owner or the Contract Documents will, at the election of Contractor, be settled by arbitration ... The prevailing party will be entitled to attorneys fees for the arbitration only to the extent that such fees are required by law, or to the extent that the arbitrator findings that it is equitable and just to award some or all such fees because .... (R. pp. 342-343).

Article 10.B states in part,

If disputes between Contractor and Subcontractor involve the conduct of the Owner or an interpretation or requirement of the Contract Documents, then the Subcontractor must follow all claim, notice and disputes procedures and requirements of the Contract Documents, ... Contractor will, at its option: (i) present to the Owner in Contractor's name or (ii) authorize Subcontractor to present to the Owner in Contractor's name, all of Subcontractor's claims, and answer the Owner's claims involving the Subcontractor's Work. (R. p. 343).

Article 10.C states,

If Contractor or its surety notifies Subcontractor in good faith that any arbitration or lawsuit brought under Article 10.A involves a controversy within the scope of Article 10.B, then dispute process under Article 10.A must be stayed until the procedures under Article 10.B are completed. *Id.*

Article 10.D states in part,

If Contractor elects not to invoke the arbitration procedures set forth in Article 10.A, then all claims, disputes and other matters in controversy between Contractor and Subcontractor arising out of or relating to the Subcontract and covered by Article 10.A will be resolved through litigation ... The prevailing party will be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs in connection with any such litigation. *Id.*

Articles 10.A and 10.D relate to claims between Watson and Balfour that do not involve the conduct of the Owner or the Contract Documents. If a claim under Article 10.A. is not arbitrated, it becomes an Article 10.D. claim. Article 10.B. relates to claims between Watson and Balfour that "involve the conduct of the Owner or an interpretation or requirement of the Contract Documents." Articles 10.A and 10.D. both include clauses allowing the award of attorneys' fees.<sup>1</sup> Article 10.B does not expressly mention attorneys' fees, but does not expressly state that attorneys' fees may not be awarded. The fact that Watson's breach of contract claim against Balfour was litigated instead of arbitrated, and was not stayed under Article 10.C., means that Watson's breach of contract claim against Balfour falls under either 10.B. or 10.D. Determining whether Watson's

---

<sup>1</sup> Balfour incorrectly states in its initial brief that, "There is no attorney fee award provision in Article 10.A." (Appellant's Brief p. 20).

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